
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Cabinet

Members of the Cabinet of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre on Monday, 6 January 2020 at 7.30 pm when the 
business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8)

3. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 
To report any decisions made by Cabinet Members under their delegated 
powers.

6. Development on Land at Valley Drive, Gravesend  (Please note that 
Appendix 2 is restricted and will only be available in the private document 
pack) 

(Pages 9 - 16)



7. Change Strategy 2019-2023 (Pages 17 - 32)

To present the draft Change Strategy for Gravesham Borough Council to 
Members of the Cabinet for approval.

8. Local Government Mutual (Pages 33 - 38)

9. Balancing the Budget – Update on Service Review Options and Additional 
Budget Initiatives Identified 

(Pages 39 - 62)

To provide Members of the Cabinet with an update on progress that has 
been made in delivering the options previously identified in terms of the 
Service Review Process and the additional Budget Initiatives agreed.

10.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

11.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

12.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

Members

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinder Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace



1

Cabinet

Monday, 2 December 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Narinder Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Note: Councillors Tony Rice, Leslie Hills, Les Hoskins, Dakota Dibben and Gary Harding 
were also in attendance.

David Hughes Chief Executive
Stuart Bobby Director (Corporate Services)
Nick Brown Director (Housing and Operations)
Kevin Burbidge Director (Planning and Development)
Melanie Norris Director (Communities)
Sarah Parfitt Assistant Director (Corporate Services)
Jan Guyler Head of Legal Services, Medway Council
Faith Rivers Lawyer – Medway Council
Andy Rayfield Communications Manager
Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant

50. Apologies 

An apology of absence was received from Cllr Brian Sangha. 

51. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on Monday, 11 November 2019 were signed by the Chair.

52. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr John Burden declared a non-pecuniary interest in relation to item 7 ‘Elizabeth Huggins 
Cottages Charity Housing Association’. He is a Director on the Board of the Association and 
an appointed representative from the Council; he advised that he would leave the room for 
the duration of the discussion and decision making of the item.  

53. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

There were no decisions to report.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 2.12.2019

2

54. Proposal for a Local Authority Trading Company 

The Cabinet were presented with a proposal for the establishment of a Local Authority 
Trading company (the Holding company). Their approval was sought: 

 For the establishment of a Local Authority Trading company (with Subsidiaries to 
follow).

 In principle of the draft Business Case template, which will be used to seek approval 
for creation of future trading subsidiaries of the Holding company, and to outline the 
activities of those subsidiary companies.

 In principle to amend the Council’s Constitution and Contract Procedure rules to 
ensure that the Council continues to have robust contract management 
arrangements in place.

The Director (Corporate Services) guided Members through the report explaining in depth 
each of the following sections: 

 Financial Background to the establishment of the LATCo. 
 The Council’s key objectives and long-term ambitions for the LATCo. 
 Governance Arrangements and Operating Model. 
 Governance Operating Model (The Holding Company, Shareholder Group, Cabinet, 

Overview Scrutiny and Full Council).
 The Proposed Company Structure. 
 An Overview of the Company’s Articles of Association. 
 Next Steps for the Formation of the LATCo. 

Before opening up the item for questions, the Chair made the following points to Members: 

 The recommendations outlined that Cabinet will only be making recommendations to 
Full Council rather than making any decisions itself; the item will be submitted to Full 
Council allowing all Members to have their voices heard in the decision making 
process. As a result of the decision being made by Full Council, it cannot be called 
into the Overview Scrutiny Committee.

 Shareholder Group, page 9 – It was the Chairs intention that the suggested 
Membership of the Shareholder Group will include a co-opted member from the 
Council’s Workers Union. Additionally, although not a requirement, the Chair of the 
Overview Scrutiny Committee will be included as a non-voting Member of the group, 
subject to the views of Cabinet and Full Council.

 Paragraph 5.2, page 10 – The current Cabinet was set up in May 2019 in anticipation 
of the LATCo being formed with the aim being that Cllr Lenny Rolles, Cabinet 
Member for Commercial Services, will act as Chairman of the LATCo Parent 
Company Board. If any conflicts of interests between the Portfolio and the operations 
of the Board arose then the Leader would take on the Cabinet Members services in 
order to allow Cllr Rolles to concentrate on his independent position as Chairman of 
the Parent Company Board. 

 Paragraph 6.2, page 11 – There was no legal requirement, but it was the Chairs 
intention to replicate political balance on the LATCo Board; the three available 
Member positions on the Board will be filled with two Labour Councillors and one 
Conservative Councillor so that there would be representation from the principal 
opposition group. 

Page 4



Cabinet 2.12.2019

3

The Chief Executive added that Local Authority Trading Companies were well established 
throughout Local Government and explained to Members of instances where senior officers 
and Councillor’s had fallen afoul of the Governance Arrangements resulting in the loss of 
their jobs. However, he reassured the Committee that the report was of an excellent 
standard with clearly set out Governance Arrangements and he was in total agreement with 
everything that was being proposed. 

The Director (Corporate Services) and the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) fielded 
questions from the Cabinet and explained that: 

 The difference between the Parent Holding Company and the subsidiary companies 
was that the Parent Holding Company owned all of the subsidiary companies and 
didn’t carry out any delivering of the services. Whereas the subsidiary companies 
were all operational and delivered all of the services to fulfil their functions. 

 The ‘golden vote’ was the power the Chair possessed to decide a matter of the 
Holding Company should the need ever arise. 

 Referencing paragraph 6.1, Council officers were able to occupy those roles on the 
Board and fulfil the duties to the Council in their Council employed positions. The 
officers would have a duty to the Council first and would be deployed under 
secondment to that company structure. Any conflicts of interest would be managed if 
and when they occurred. 

 The guidance stated that the Chairs of the subsidiary companies should be officers; 
as those subsidiary companies did not have the same level of power wielded by the 
Parent Company and were more operational in nature, the Council felt that it would 
be more beneficial to have officers as the Chairs to allow the companies to fulfil their 
commercial objectives. The Chairs won’t have voting rights on the Parent Board 
otherwise that would dilute the balance on the Parent Company between Members 
and officers, but this could be reviewed in due course should the Council wish to.  

 It has been agreed that the Company Secretary role will be filled by the Monitoring 
Officer, Perry Holmes. 

The Head of Shared Legal Services and the Lawyer – Medway Council fielded questions 
and explained that: 

 The indemnity cover only applied if the relevant parties had acted honestly and in 
good faith. 

 The process for dismissal of Directors from the Parent Company Board was laid out 
in the shareholders agreement, the articles of association and elements of it were 
also captured in the Directors terms of engagement. As a result of such in depth 
guidance, it should not be a surprise to any of the Directors that the Leader was able 
to reserve the right to dismiss immediately in the right circumstances.

 A programme will be pre-set and continually monitored to ensure that no officers are 
required to have their employment transferred to the Company under TUPE. 

 It was completely possible for multiple business structures to operate within the 
framework; a remit is set by the Parent Company that allows multi-functionality. 

The Chief Executive elaborated further on the monitoring of officers working in the LATCo: 

 The officers involved with the LATCo will provide their services which will amount to a 
relatively small proportion of time and that therefore raises less concern with TUPE.

Page 5



Cabinet 2.12.2019

4

 If however, the workload increased and took the officers further way from their 
Council work creating an unsustainable balance then a future option could be for the 
LATCo to potentially employ the officers required.

The Communications Manager explained to the Cabinet that he had held meetings with 
officers ahead of arranging a meeting with the Leader and Cllr Rolles to discuss a marketing 
plan for the LATCo once it had been adopted by Full Council. 

The Leader and each of the Cabinet Members thanked the officers personally for all of their 
hard work in creating the report which was concise, detailed and of a very high standard.  

Resolved that Cabinet recommended to Full Council: 

1. The formation of the Local Authority Trading company (LATCo) Holding company as 
detailed in the report and recommend the report is considered by Full Council at its 
meeting on 17 December 2019.

2. That the Council reserves the right to be a shareholder of any LATCo subsidiary and 
this shall be included in any governance agreement between the Council and LATCo 
(through the Memorandum of Association (MOA)).

3. That delegated authority is given to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the 
Leader of the Executive, the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer to confirm 
and register the name of the company and take all necessary practical, legal and 
financial actions necessary in relation to the creation of the LATCo and development 
of the relevant governance framework in order to enable the effective operation of 
that company and associated subsidiaries and subject to any necessary 
amendments to the Council’s Constitution being brought back to Full Council for 
approval.

55. Elizabeth Huggins Cottages Charity Housing Association 

The Cabinet were advised of an approach to Gravesham Borough Council by Elizabeth 
Huggins Cottages Charity Housing Association (the Charity) seeking the potential for the 
Council to grant a long term loan to the Charity. Such a loan would provide the Charity with 
access to borrowing which would be used to fund development of housing at their site at 
Cross Lane West and provide a long term investment income stream to the Council. 
Additionally, their approval was sought to negotiate and agree the final terms of a long term 
loan with Elizabeth Huggins Cottages Charity Housing Association.

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) guided Members through the report giving a 
summary of the arrangements under which any such loan facility may be made available to 
Elizabeth Huggins Cottages Charity Housing Association. The full conditions for the loan 
advancement to Elizabeth Huggins were listed at paragraph 4.8 of the report. 

The Committee raised general concern over the Charity’s ability to pay back the loan and 
what would happen to the loan if any Government policies changed how much was required 
to be paid. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) stated that if the Council were made aware of 
any changes in Government policies prior to the formal agreement of the loan then they 
would be considered as part of the loan agreement however the validity of the loan could 

Page 6



Cabinet 2.12.2019

5

become an issue with any significant changes.  If anything changed during the course of the 
loan agreement then the Council would engage with the Charity to address those loan 
conditions.   

The Director (Corporate Services) admitted that it was a risk to the Council but they had 
approached the loan agreement in a similar manner to what was entered with the St 
Georges Centre redevelopment deal. Following the principles of an income strip deal, 
officers had mapped out how much the rental income will grow over the next 50 years using 
retail growth estimates with the principal repayments of borrowing to the Council increasing 
in line with the rental income growth. It was estimated that during that 50 year period the 
Charity will generate sufficient money to payback their loan as well as the accumulated 
interest. Additionally, the level of income the Charity should generate was of a high enough 
level that there was a safety buffer if there were any issues. 

In response to further concern and questions, the Director (Corporate Services) and the 
Assistant Director (Corporate Services) explained that: 

 Phase 1 of the loan agreement was self-contained and prior to release of the £2 
million loan the Charity would need to secure the remaining funding from external 
sources. Cllr Pritchard was actively seeking additional grant funding from external 
sources to fund the rest of the payments required to complete the project. Originally 
the external funding was delayed as the organisations were reluctant to offer grant 
funding until there was a determination to bring the scheme forward. As a result of 
the Council agreeing to loan the £2 million to complete phase 1, the external 
companies that Cllr Pritchard approached had indicated a willingness to contribute 
towards the remaining payments needed. 

 Cllr Pritchard had been liaising with the residents of Elizabeth Huggins scheme and 
they were supportive of the proposed developments expressing a wish for the work 
to start as soon as possible. Additionally, the Director (Corporate Services) advised 
that he had been approached by a resident at the Remembrance Parade who was 
keen to see the proposed scheme come forward. 

The Chief Executive outlined a number of key points to the Cabinet: 

 The risk was not the same as lending money in other ventures, both the Director 
(Corporate Services) and the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) had been very 
diligent in considering all financial aspects of the agreement and ultimately there was 
long term security against the assets. Further security conversations could be held in 
the future if needed. 

 The proposed development will count towards the Councils housing stock which will 
help the targets for housing delivery in Gravesham. 

 It was very pleasing to see the scheme moving forward as it was initially led by the 
late Cllr John Cubitt who worked very hard to achieve that outcome and actively 
secured the planning permission that was needed. Additionally, it was beneficial for  
other former Councillors such as Les & Sue Howes who were big supporters of the 
project. 

 
Resolved that Cabinet: 

1. Agreed in principle to the issuing of a long term loan to Elizabeth Huggins Cottages 
Charity Housing Association, subject to the conditions outlined within Section 4.8 of 
this Report.

Page 7



Cabinet 2.12.2019

6

2. Recommended to Full Council that delegated responsibility be given to the Director 
(Corporate Services)(in the role of S151 Officer), in consultation with the Deputy 
Leader, Lead Member for Housing, Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer to 
negotiate and agree the final terms of any loan and enter into the necessary 
associated legal agreements on behalf of the Council.

3. Recommended to Full Council that the Treasury Management Strategy Statement is 
updated to reflect that the Non-Specified Investments time duration for term deposits 
with unrated counterparties is increased to 50 years, to reflect the potential loan 
arrangement with the Charity.

4. Recommended to Full Council that an amount of £2m is added to the approved 
capital programme for 2019/20 for the purpose of providing long term funding up to 
that defined level to Elizabeth Huggins Cottages Charity Housing Association as a 
means of enabling the Charity to provide additional social housing in Gravesham.

Close of Meeting 

The meeting ended at 8:37pm

Page 8



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: Yes 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Cabinet 

Date: 6 January 2020 

Reporting officer: Director (Planning and Development) 

Subject: Development on Land at Valley Drive, Gravesend 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To seek authority to award a build contract for the development of 48 new Council homes on 
land at Valley Drive, Gravesend.  

Recommendations: 

1. That authority be delegated to the Director (Planning and Development) in 
consultation with the Leader of the Executive and the Section 151 Officer, to award a 
build contract to the successful contractor following a selection process via the South 
East Consortium (SEC) for the demolition of 36 bedsits and the construction of 48 
new Council homes consisting of 32 x 1 bed flats for over 55s and 16 general needs 
flats for rent.  
 
 

 

1. Valley Drive 

1.1 A planning application for the above development was submitted by the Council 
and presented to Regulatory Board in May 2019. The application 

(reference2019/0155) was recommended for permission subject to conditions 
and a Unilateral Undertaking in respect of financial obligations to Kent County 
Council and the NHS.  Full permission was subsequently granted on 17 
September 2019. 

2. Tender Process 

2.1 Potter Raper Limited is appointed as the Council’s Employers Agent.  PRP has 
prepared tender documents based on the drawings submitted to the LPA and the 
Council’s agreed Employer’s Requirements, and has submitted these to the South 
East Consortium (SEC) Framework to which the Council has membership.  

2.2 Potter Raper Limited provided an estimate for the works which was confirmed as 
being in excess of the Key Decision threshold of £100,000.  

2.3 Tender documents were received back from the SEC on 8th November.  Potter 
Raper Limited in consultation with officers from the Housing Strategy and 

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



2 

Development team have evaluated the tenders and have provided a tender report 
for the Design and Build of Blocks A and B at Valley Drive.  

2.4 Following post-tender evaluation, Potter Raper Limited has recommended 
Westridge Construction Limited be awarded the Design and Build Contract for the 
scheme.  Details of the anticipated costs can be found at Appendix 2 which is in 
the private part of this agenda.  

2.5 Right to Buy (RTB) receipts can only be used on any net increase of homes.  
Therefore, due to the demolition of 36 bedsits on site, RTB receipts can only be 
used on the net increase of 12 units. 

2.6 The Council will need to fund delivery of the remaining 36 homes from 
borrowing.  This element will form part of the authority’s overall borrowing 
requirement in 2020/21 and 2021/22.   Officers will review all options available at 
such time and will make the necessary steps to securing funding, in accordance 
with the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement and in consultation 
with the Council’s Section 151 Officer. 

3. Viability  

3.1 Officers from the Finance Department and Housing Strategy and Development 
team are currently assessing the scheme and considering different tenures and 
rent levels.  

3.2 Current policy for the Council’s new build homes is to charge either Affordable 
Rent (inclusive of service charges) or the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rate for 
each property, whichever is the lower.  

3.3 Charging Affordable Rent based at LHA rates currently gives a payback period of 
between 25-26 years  

3.4 Investigation into charging social rent plus service charge for the 32 homes for 
people over 55 will be carried out as the intention is to promote these new homes 
to existing Council residents who are currently under occupying in an attempt to 
encourage them to ‘re-size’ to a more appropriate home and in doing so, free up 
larger family homes.  Areas to consider include resident perception and the 
amount of service charge that is Housing Benefit attributable.  

3.5 Details of viability based on varying rent levels will be subject to further 
discussions with the Lead Member for Housing.  

4. Funding 

4.1 As from April 2012, the Department for Communities and Local Government (now 
MHCLG) announced that it would allow a local housing authority to retain some 
Right to Buy (RTB) receipts, provided that it could demonstrate that it had spent a 
sufficient amount on replacement affordable housing.  Gravesham Borough 
Council signed the agreement with CLG in the first quarter of 2012 thereby 
confirming a commitment to delivering affordable housing.  

4.2 In return the authority agreed that RTB receipts will not make up more than 30% 
of total spend on additional stock and to return any unused receipts (after a period 
of three years from initial receipt) plus interest at 4% above base rate to the 
Secretary of State. 

Page 10



3 

4.3 On 26th   February 2019, Full Council approved the Housing Capital Programme 
for 2019/20 which included £7.4m of capital funding for the council’s New 
Build/Acquisition Programme.  Development of this site will form part of the 
delivery of this programme. 

4.4 As indicated in 3.2 and 3.3 above, the demolition of 36 bedsits and the 
construction of 48 new homes will be met by the most appropriate source of 
funding such as the HRA reserve or borrowing, with the net increase in homes 
being funded in part by 30% retained RTB receipts and the remaining 70% being 
funded from the most appropriate source as part of the Council’s entire borrowing 
requirement for 20/21 and 21/22.  

5. Finance Update 

5.1 On 9 October 2019 HM Treasury announced that it would increase the interest 
rates on all new loans from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) by 100 basis 
points (one percentage point) on top of usual lending terms.  This appears to be in 
response to a substantial increase in the use of PWLB by local authorities over 
recent months, given the cost of borrowing had fallen to record lows.  This action 
is likely to make the PWLB the lender of last resort and require the council to 
identify alternative sources.   

5.2 Shorter term funding, up to five years, is likely to be available from some local 
authorities and banks but securing longer term funding could prove 
difficult.  Borrowing from the market longer term requires additional time both for 
planning and administration and even then it might not be possible to find a lender 
that matches the specific requirements, forcing us to take on more expensive 
debt.  

6. Implications 

6.1 Please see Appendix 1 

 

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

7.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements. 

 

Page 11



 

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1 

      

Legal  The Council has entered into a contract with Potter Raper Limited for the delivery of 
their professional services.  A contract will be entered into with the contractor 
appointed to carry out the work.  The procurements of services and works through 
the use of frameworks are complant with the relevant procurement law..  

Finance and Value 
for Money  

As detailed in the attached report, the works have been tendered via the SEC and 
the works will exceed the Key Decision threshold of £100,000.  

Risk Assessment Contractors are admitted to the SEC framework following legally compliant 
competitive tenders and are appointed after evaluation of their experience, 
resources and financial and technical suitability.  

The financial suitability of all contractors on the framework is further subject to 
annual re-evaluation. 

The contract with the selected contractor will be entered into through consultation 
with Legal Services. 

A Valley Drive Working Group meet regularly.  The group consists of officers from 
both Housing and Development. The existing bedsits are currently being decanted 
and it is anticipated that all the bedsits will be vacant by the end of 2019.  Through 
the working group, security arrangements for vacant units have been made. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

      

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

      

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

Yes 

The new homes will be advertised on Kent HomeChoice (choice based lettings) 
with all eligible applicants being able to bid for the homes through this process.   

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Page 12

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5 

Corporate Plan #1 People: quality living (Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building) 

#1 People: quality living (Safeguard Residents)  

Crime and Disorder As residents of the bedsits are decanted to alternative accommodation, the units 
are being emptied, services are disconnected and the units are perma-sitexed.   

Digital and website 
implications 

The scheme will be promoted on the Council's website and other social media.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

Provision of the new homes will provide extra capacity within the Council’s housing 
stock to enable households living in unsuitable accommodation to move into 
appropriate housing that better meets their needs. The provision of new up to date 
homes for older persons will encourage existing tenants to downsize and free up 
larger family homes.   

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 06 January 2020

Reporting officer: Michelle Batstone, Corporate Change Manager

Subject: Change Strategy 2019-2023

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present the draft Change Strategy for Gravesham Borough Council to Members of the 
Cabinet for approval.

Recommendations:
1. Members are requested to approve the draft Change Strategy 2019-23.

1. Introduction

1.1 In April 2016, the council formally adopted its first Change Strategy as a 
supporting document to the Medium-term Financial Strategy.  The Council 
recognised the need to ensure that it had the necessary support and structures in 
place to implement changes to service delivery, and the Change Strategy was 
developed as the tool to reflect this commitment.

2. Strategy Review

2.1 A review of the previous Change Strategy has been undertaken and updated to 
reflect the following:
2.1.1 The new priorities/objectives set out in the Corporate Plan 2019-2023 

(section one of the Strategy). 
2.1.2 Updates to the ‘content’ of the council’s Change Strategy (section two of 

the Strategy) to reflect the current working arrangements and activities of 
the council.

2.1.3 Stronger emphasis on the role of Members in terms of engagement in the 
change processes and activities that are undertaken (section three of the 
Strategy).

Page 17 Agenda Item 7



2

2.2 At the meeting of the Performance & Administration Committee on 14 November, 
Members were asked to review the draft Strategy and provide any additional 
comments and suggestions for consideration prior to submitting the report to 
Cabinet.  Members were supportive of the overall Strategy and suggested a minor 
change to paragraph 3.2 which has been incorporated into the draft Strategy 
attached at appendix two.

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

“Medium Term Financial Strategy” – reported to Cabinet 29 March 2016.

“Medium Term Financial Strategy” – reported to Full Council 19 April 2016.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 18



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There is no legal requirement for the council to adopt a Change Strategy and as 
such, there are no legal implications arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no finance or value for money implications arising from this report.  The 
Change Strategy is a supporting document for the overall Medium-term Financial 
Strategy.

Risk Assessment There are no risks associated with the Change Strategy.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The Change Strategy supports the delivery of all of the council’s corporate 
objectives.

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

Digital and website 
implications

The work of the Digital Team is one of the key workstreams set out within the 
Change Strategy.

Page 19

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adult’s implications arising from 
this report.

Page 20



Change Strategy 2019-2023

Appendix TwoPage 21



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 2 | P a g e

Contents

Page

1 Introduction 3

2 Change Programme – Content, Process and People 5

3 Stakeholder Engagement 9

4 Measuring success 10

Page 22



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 3 | P a g e

1. Introduction

1.1 Change is inevitable and is in fact necessary to ensure that the council and its 
services can continue to operate in the landscape of local government, which in itself 
has changed dramatically in recent years and will continue to do so.  

1.2 When drafted in early 2016, the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016-17 to 2019-20 
identified that whilst the council was able to draw on its Working Balances to fund its 
annual revenue budget initially, a residual funding gap of £2.5m would emerge in 
2019-20 were the Council to take no action. The Strategy also set out the action to 
be taken by the council to bridge the funding gap.

1.3 The funding gap, and therefore action required by the council, increased by £0.4m to 
£2.9m when setting the budget for 2017-18, primarily driven by the changes to the 
design of the New Homes Bonus Scheme. The funding gap was widened by at least 
a further £1m at budget setting 2018-19 due to the financial impact of low 
housebuilding rates in the borough, the higher than anticipated staff pay award and 
lower than expected interest rates.

1.4 Given the financial pressures that have been placed on councils in recent years, 
there has been a drive for local authorities to consider the way in which they operate 
and provide their services.  Therefore, ensuring the council has a strategic approach 
to identifying and managing change is critical to ensuring service delivery.

1.5 The council has recognised this and in its new Corporate Plan sets out a clear 
corporate objective for the 2019-23 period as follows:

3 - Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to 
continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong 
governance environment.

1.6 It is therefore critical that the council is using its finite resources in the most effective 
and efficient way, in order to continue to provide good services to the community.  To 
address the challenges this raises, the council is committed to make financial 
efficiencies by reviewing and, where necessary, changing the way it delivers its 
services to the residents and businesses in the borough. There is a need for the 
council to take a strategic view of the council’s finances moving forward taking on the 
difficult balancing act of saving money whilst ensuring sufficient resources are in 
place to carry out council activities.

1.7 The council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is a key part of the Council’s 
Budget and Policy Framework and sets out the high-level strategy for how the council 
will ensure revenue resources are directed towards delivery of the Council’s vision 
and priorities.  The Change Strategy is a key supporting document for the over-
arching MTFS.

1.8 To ensure that the council makes these changes in the right way and in fact, makes 
the right changes this strategy intends to set out three key areas of change activity:

1.8.1 Content –how the council will identify what needs to be changed.

1.8.2 Processes –how change will be planned and implemented.

1.8.3 People – how to address the human dynamics of change in terms of 
engagement and commitment to change.

Page 23



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 4 | P a g e

1.9 Change can mean different things to different people; some see change as an 
exciting opportunity whereas others see it as a threat to their position and working 
practices. By taking an open and transparent approach to change, the council will 
implement any changes in an inclusive manner, ensuring all staff and Members are 
part of the change process.

Page 24



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 5 | P a g e

2. Change Programme – Content, Process and People

Content

2.1 The council’s Change Activities are made up of several strands of work:
2.1.1 Review of specific processes and ways in which the council currently operates 

in order to identify service efficiencies and potential improvements for the 
customer and officers of the council.

2.1.2 Implementation of budget saving initiatives as identified by council officers 
and, where required, endorsed by Cabinet.

2.1.3 Exploration and implementation of shared working arrangements where it is 
suitable to do so.

2.1.4 Expansion and implementation of commercial initiatives identified.

2.1.5 The work of the Digital Team in promoting the use of technology as a means 
of interacting and communicating with our customers.

2.2 Review of specific processes

2.2.1 This work stream will be driven by the council’s Management Team and 
Members through identification of areas of council services that may benefit 
from a review of the way in which the service is being delivers.  This will focus 
on the internal processes undertaken by officers but will also include the 
customer aspect in terms of how the customer receives and access the 
services.

2.2.2 In each case, a fundamental review of service delivery, specific to the relevant 
process, will take place.  This will involve a ‘start to finish’ approach, looking at 
the way in which the council currently delivers services, identifying what isn’t 
working or where efficiencies can be made and then implementing these 
changes.

2.2.3 Any changes that have been identified that require a fundamental change to 
the service will be agreed not only by the council’s Management Team but 
with the council’s Cabinet as required.

2.3 Implementation of budget saving initiatives 

2.3.1 Both Members and officers are continually reviewing the council’s services in 
order to identify potential budget saving and/or income generation initiatives.  
Most recent, in 2018, the council’s Cabinet approved a suite of initiatives, 
totalling just under £1.3m which are in the process of being delivered.

2.3.2 In addition, there are a number of options from the previous Service Review 
Process which are in the process if being implemented which will drive 
changes to the way in which the council operates.

Page 25



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 6 | P a g e

2.4 Exploration and implementation of shared working arrangements

2.4.1 The council has taken a very pragmatic approach to the implementation of 
shared services.  There is no ‘one size fits all’ approach and as such, potential 
shared service arrangements have always been considered when an 
appropriate opportunity has arisen and where the benefits to both authorities 
outweigh any potential negative impacts.  The driver for shared services is not 
necessarily financial; added resilience, experience and knowledge are also 
key factors in deciding if the council should pursue shared working 
arrangements.

2.4.2 The council’s Working in Partnership Framework 2019 sets out the process 
for exploring shared working opportunities in more detail, ensuring 
engagement with key officers and Members at all stages of the process.

2.5 Expansion and implementation of commercial initiatives identified

2.5.1 The council has a clear ambition to become an entrepreneurial local authority; 
putting in place a package of new ways of working in order to implement a 
commercial culture to finance the council’s expanded frontline offer and a 
social return on investment. 

2.5.2 Specifically, this includes the formation of a local authority trading company 
and the council is actively pursuing the formation of a company in order to 
deliver services to the public.  Services to be delivered will be in the areas of 
vehicle works, private housing delivery and repairs and maintenance.

2.5.3 Delivering services to the public present a number of challenges for the 
council and specifically changes to the way that both officers and Members 
undertake their roles.  Therefore this is a key aspect of the council’s overall 
Change Strategy.

2.6 The work of the Digital Team

2.6.1 The council’s Digital Strategy sets out the way in which the council aims to 
expand the service delivery options by providing and encouraging customers 
to use the most convenient and cost-effective digital contact channels, where 
appropriate.

2.6.2 Making the most of the technology available to the council and driving 
customers towards self-help and alternative means of communication will 
support the council in becoming more efficient both in terms of service 
delivery and financial viability.

2.6.3 Transform how we deliver digital services, working in agile teams capable of 
redesigning services end-to-end, ensuring that our user’s needs are 
considered and met throughout the whole process.

Page 26



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 7 | P a g e

2.6.4 Supporting our staff to work more efficiently by providing them with the 
necessary tools and digital skills, helping them to deliver excellent service to 
our residents as efficiently as possible and freeing up more of their time for 
frontline services.

Process

2.7 All change activities will be discussed and agreed with the council’s Management 
Team and where applicable, Members, prior to commencement.  This will ensure that 
the following aspects of any change activities are agreed at a senior management 
level:
2.7.1 Sponsor – identification of who the lead officer at a senior management level 

is to ensure regular project reporting and support.

2.7.2 Scope – the scope of any change activity will be agreed to ensure that all 
officers involved are clear on the service elements and/or processes that are 
due to be reviewed/changed.

2.7.3 Timeframe – a realistic timeframe for the change activity will be agreed. This 
will ensure again, that all officers involved know the deadline they are working 
to in terms of undertaking reviews and/or implementing changes required.

2.7.4 Project Team – identifying who will form part of the team to undertake the 
review and implement change.  These officers will be led by the Corporate 
Change Manager (as required) and will be from the relevant service, although 
it is also likely that a ‘critical friend’ from an independent service area will also 
be involved where appropriate.  Officer time will be freed up to ensure they 
are able to commit to the review whilst it is underway.

2.7.5 Decision-making process – clarification on the process for making decisions 
about the changes to be made.  This will be dependent on the nature of the 
change that is required and whether or not it has previously been identified 
through previous reporting processes.

2.7.6 Communication – agreement on how the process/review will be 
communicated to officers directly affected by the process as well as the wider 
council community.  Again, the method used may be dependent on the nature 
of the review or change that is being implemented.

2.8 The above is a summary of the types of activities that will need to be considered 
once change activities have been identified.  Other specific details will be confirmed 
with the Corporate Change Manager as required and all change activities will be 
underpinned with a detailed project plan to enable proper monitoring of progress of 
the project.

Page 27



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 8 | P a g e

People

2.9 The most critical part of the Change Strategy and its associated activities is People.  
All people react differently to change and it is therefore important that officers are 
supported through any changes that are made.

2.10 Typically, people go through four stages of change and these are most commonly 
depicted in The Change Curve (figure 1)’:

Figure 1 – The Change Curve

2.11 Understanding the various ways that people react to change, helps in minimising the 
potential negative impact the change could have and can help people adapt to it 
more quickly.  Identifying where people are along this spectrum will enable any 
change activities to be managed and progressed effectively.

2.12 The Corporate Change Team will have a key role to play in working with people 
through the transitional period to ensure the change is managed and implemented 
effectively and will be supported by the council’s HR team throughout the process.

2.13 In ensuring that communication with all those involved is conducted effectively, the 
following will take place:
2.13.1 Identification of service stakeholders i.e. those who will be affected by the 

changes.  This will focus not only on internal officers but others who may not 
necessarily need to be involved in the specific review, but will need to be 
informed of any changes taking place.

2.13.2 Early interaction with service stakeholders to ensure that they fully understand 
the case for change (why this is happening) and the vision (where making the 
change will take us).

Page 28



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 9 | P a g e

2.13.3 Officers who will be involved in the actual review process (as detailed under 
the ‘Process’ stage above).  The implementation of reviews or change 
activities will be undertaken with the officers who will be affected by the 
change.

2.14 The service stakeholders will be a fundamental element of all change activities; it is 
recognised that without them change will be very difficult to implement and as such, 
they will be kept up-to-date on progress throughout the process.

Page 29



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 10 | P a g e

3. Stakeholder Engagement

Elected Members

3.1 The council’s Members will play a fundamental role in ensuring that the council works 
towards meeting the budget gap set out in the introduction of this strategy.  

3.2 From a consultative point of view, Members will be an invaluable source of 
information both in terms of their own personal opinions and experience, but also 
those of the constituents they represent.  Members will be invited to be involved in 
change activities and provide their input into the process.

3.3 Cabinet Members will be tasked with making decisions about council services moving 
forward.  Cabinet Members will need to review any the potential savings change 
activities may generate and balance this with the financial position of the council and 
the impact on the customer and decide the best course of action.  There will 
undoubtedly be tough decisions for both officers and Members moving forward.

Trade Union

3.4 Where any changes that are taking place impact on officers of the council, the Trade 
Union Branch Secretary will be kept up-to-date with the implications of any changes 
and will be consulted as required.

3.5 The council will endeavour to identify redeployment opportunities for staff where it is 
appropriate to do so and will fulfil any statutory consultations that are required as a 
result of any suggested changes that impact on staff.

Page 30



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 11 | P a g e

4. Measuring Success

4.1 Success is measured in different ways, depending on the change that is being made 
and the service or process involved.

4.2 At the start of each review of change activity, a set of measures will be agreed with 
the relevant Director and responsible manager in order to be able to determine if the 
change has been a success.  These measures will cover the following:
4.1.1 Service performance – measuring how the change has impacted on overall 

performance of the service/process.

4.1.2 Financial performance – measuring how the change has impacted on the 
costs of the service/process.

4.2 These measures of success will be agreed and reported to Management Team as 
part of the Performance Management Framework of the council.

4.3 Ultimately, the success of implementing the changes activities set out within this 
Strategy will result in the overall delivery of the objectives set out within the council’s 
Corporate Plan 2019-23.  Updates against these objectives will be reported to 
Cabinet Members on a regular basis.

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 6 December 2019

Reporting officer: Sarah Parfitt, Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

Subject: Local Government Mutual

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Cabinet of the Local Government Mutual (LGM), an alternative solution to 
traditional insurance products and services.  To outline the intention to seek a quotation for 
Gravesham Borough Council's insurance requirements from June 2020 from the LGM.

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information only

1. Introduction

1.1 The council’s existing insurance contract will expire on the 29th June 2020 and will 
therefore need to be re-procured. 

1.2 Section 5.12 of the council’s Financial Procedure Rules require that “The S151 Officer 
will put in place insurance cover relating to Council activity and negotiate all claims and 
maintain all necessary records, in consultation with other officers where appropriate.”

1.3 In considering the council’s option for insurance provision, investigations have taken 
place to understand the potential protection services to be provided by the Local 
Government Mutual (LGM), in addition to procurement of insurance through the usual 
tendering route.  Based on these investigations, and subject to a satisfactory offer, it has 
been concluded that the council should initially seek to obtain a quotation for its 
requirements from the LGM.

2. Local Government Mutual

Purpose

2.1 The Local Authority Mutual (LGM) has been designed by local government for local 
government and is backed by the Local Government Association (LGA).  It is intended to 
provide a cost effective vehicle for the provision of risk protection as an alternative to 
traditional insurance products and services.  The LGM offers protection cover for all the 
risks a local authority currently obtains insurance for from the market.

Page 33 Agenda Item 8



2

2.2 The LGM was established to reduce the ‘total cost of risk’ to local government by 
seeking to reduce insurance premiums and introduce co-ordinated risk management and 
control arrangements across the sector.  The mutual also intends to increase the 
transparency for its members over the cost of cover.

2.3 Fourteen councils along with the Local Government Association (LGA) joined together to 
establish the LGM in April 2019.  The LGM is governed and controlled by its member 
local authorities.  There are no external shareholders and the LGM does not operate on 
the basis of making a profit for the benefit of third party investors.

2.4 A local authority can join the LGM at any time through an application process which 
essentially relies on the same data that the council would use in any tendering process 
for external insurance requirements.  There is a 12 month notice period should a 
member authority wish to leave the mutual and insure with third-party insurers.

Structure and Governance

2.5 The LGM is a company limited by guarantee and each member is able to participate in 
its governance arrangements and oversight of its business operations. 

2.6 The LGM trades as a hybrid discretionary mutual; this effectively means it will pool its 
financial resources through contributions from its members to cover the cost of low 
expected losses and arrange a layer of external insurance to protect against larger, 
unexpected losses.

2.7 The LGA and the Founding Members developed its launch constitution, and its Board 
currently includes three local authority Leaders or portfolio holders and two expert 
independent directors provided through CIPFA and the Government Actuary’s 
Department. The Board also has the benefit of regular reports provided by an 
independent subject matter expert, the Chief Executive of the Association of Financial 
Mutuals.

2.8 LGM’s constitution ensures that its members control and direct its operations. The Board 
is elected by the membership through arrangements that reflect the LGA’s own voting 
system and is accountable to its local authority members. Working committees drawn 
from officers representing its member councils will consider, review and propose policies 
and practices for the Board’s consideration.

2.9 LGM is an appointed representative of Regis Mutual Management Limited, which is 
authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and its Directors are 
required to be Approved Persons by the FCA.

2.10 LGM is managed by Local Government Mutual Management Services Ltd (LGMMSL), 
which is also an appointed representative and therefore permitted to carry on activities 
regulated by the FCA. LGMMSL is a joint venture between Regis Mutual Management 
Ltd and LGA Commercial Services Ltd

2.11 LGM procures its wraparound insurance through an OJEU compliant process.   LGM’s 
own insurance arrangements and constitution mean it will not need to seek additional 
funding from members during any financial year, so individual local authorities will not be 
asked to provide additional funding (the mutual procures stop-loss insurance to ensure 
this). Members are also covered against claims that may arise in the future relating to 
their period of membership in the usual way, through a mixture of reserves retained by 

Page 34



3

the mutual to cover possible claims falling within its retention and insurance contracts 
covering potential higher value claims.

Pricing

2.12 Pricing will be specific to the individual risk of members and all available data will be 
utilised to determine the total contribution that each of the members will need to make to 
the LGM.  The price offered will set out an actuarially obtained estimate of an authority’s 
typical expenditure on expected claims, plus an element for operating costs, and the 
costs of the authority’s segment of the mutual’s ‘wrap-around’ insurance. Pricing doesn’t 
need to add a margin for profit, and no undisclosed broker commissions or payments are 
included in the costs.

Risk Management

2.13 The LGM intends to work methodically and collaboratively with its members to reduce 
incidents and losses from claims and therefore, over time, reduce the cost of protection. 
Information on claims and ‘near misses’ will be shared so that members can see how 
their cost of protection relates to their claims and the drivers of the risk, which turn into 
claims.

3. Next Steps

3.1 Have discussed the council’s renewal date of June 2020 with representatives from the 
mutual it has been ascertained that there is sufficient time for the council to consider the 
protection services offered by the mutual.  Subject to a satisfactory offer coming forward, 
the council will therefore be seeking to consider the protection services offered by the 
LGM. 

3.2 On receipt of the offer from the LGM, the council will be able to consider whether it 
wishes to join the LGM or prepare to tender its requirements through usual procurement 
routes.

Page 35



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal LGM is not a third-party insurance supplier to local authorities and is exempt from 
the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (under the “Teckal” exemption). 
As a Contracting Authority under the PCR, the Mutual will adopt an OJEU 
procurement process for the external insurance secured for its members.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The report sets out the financial implications of a decision to seek admission to the 
LGM. The application process also requires work by officers to ensure all 
necessary information is provided to LGM to enable them to make a properly priced 
offer.

Risk Assessment It is of critical importance that the council has sufficient arrangements in place to 
manage the risks it may be exposed to; the council will use externally-provided 
cover to protect itself primarily against the financial consequences of risks it is 
unable to fully mitigate or manage to a tolerable level

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
Not at this time - to be discussed with the Information Governance Team once 
the selected route for procuring services has been confirmed.

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
See above

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan There are no direct implications for the Council’s strategic priorities, albeit the 
council's support for the LGM supports local government as a body in looking at 
ways to innovate, which in turn can improve the ways in which council's serve their 
communities within ongoing financial constraints.

Crime and Disorder Crime and disorder issues will be considered as part of the council’s cover 
requirements

Page 36

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Overview Scrutiny Committee

Date: 06 January 2020
16 January 2020

Reporting officer: Stuart Bobby, Director (Corporate Services)
- On behalf of the council’s Management Team

Subject: Balancing the Budget – Update on Service Review Options 
and Additional Budget Initiatives Identified

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members of the Cabinet with an update on progress that has been made in 
delivering the options previously identified in terms of the Service Review Process and the 
additional Budget Initiatives agreed.

Recommendations:
Cabinet Members are asked to:
1. Note the progress that has been made in terms of the approved Service Review and 

Budget Initiatives as set out in appendix two to the report.
2. Agree that, moving forward, any outstanding Service Review or Budget Initiatives to be 

managed through the operational Business Plans, with updates direct to the relevant 
Lead Member as required.

1. Introduction

1.1 When drafted in early 2016, the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016-17 to 
2019-20 identified that whilst the council was able to draw on its Working 
Balances to fund its annual revenue budget initially, a residual funding gap of 
£2.5m would emerge in 2019-20 were the Council to take no action. The Strategy 
also set out the action to be taken by the council to bridge the funding gap.

1.2 The funding gap, and therefore action required by the council, increased by £0.4m 
to £2.9m, primarily driven by the changes to the design of the New Homes Bonus 
Scheme. The funding gap was widened by at least a further £1m at budget setting 
2018-19 due to the financial impact of low housebuilding rates in the borough, the 
higher than anticipated staff pay award and lower than expected interest rates.  

Page 39 Agenda Item 9



2

1.3 In response to these financial challenges, the council embarked on a programme 
of activity in 2016, as documented in its Medium Term Financial Strategy.  This 
was later supplemented by further work strands to extend the council’s Property 
Acquisition Strategy and introduce further Balancing the Budget Initiatives in 
response to the increase in the further funding gaps identified when setting the 
budgets for 2017-18 and 2018-19.  The total programme of activity followed by the 
council since 2016 is set out below:

1.4 As agreed, this report provides an update to the Cabinet and Overview Scrutiny 
Committee on activity towards delivering the service review process options and 
the balancing the budget initiatives, with the value of the combined activity from 
these totalling £2,735,870 (the council identified £1,461,870 of activity from the 
service review process options, £31,870 more than  the expected value this 
workstream).

1.5 A further update on progress in delivering all workstreams will be provided as part 
of the budget setting papers to Cabinet and Overview Scrutiny in February 2020.

2. Progress to date - Service Review Process Options and the Balancing the Budget 
Initiatives

2.1 Appendix three provides an overview of the service review process options and 
balancing the budget initiatives that were approved, set out across the respective 
Cabinet Portfolios. 

2.2 The council has worked effectively to deliver the approved service review process 
options since 2016 and the approved balancing the budget initiatives since 
November 2018, with these intended to reduce net expenditure and increase 
efficiency in the services delivered by the Council while protecting those most 
valued by the community.   The table below shows the level of delivery against 
these two workstreams, as captured in the budget setting reports of the council in 
February each year:

Page 40



3

Financial year for budget setting Budget Reductions reflected in the 
original budget for the year (£)

2017/18 535,000

2018/19 483,000

2019/20 1,002,700

2020/21* 396,400

Total Value of Activity 
(Service Review and Balancing the 
Budget Initiatives)

2,417,100

* as recorded at 4 December 2019

2.3 To date a total of £2,417,100 has been delivered i.e. accounted for within the 
Council’s Medium-term Financial Plan, out of the total approved value of initiatives 
of £2,704,000.

2.4 There are a number of initiatives that have not yet been progressed for a variety of 
reasons, all of which are also detailed within appendix three.  Some of the options 
previously identified are no longer viable or have been progressed in different 
ways.  It is proposed that all viable Service Review and Budget Initiatives that 
have not yet been implemented are reflected within the specific service areas 
operational Business Plan monitored by the respective Director and Lead 
Member.  In addition, these will also form part of future budget monitoring reports.

3. Next steps and future reporting

3.1 As previously agreed, an information report will be provided to the Overview 
Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 16 January 2020.

3.2 It is suggested that this report forms the basis of the final update report on the 
delivery of the Service Review and Budget Initiatives and as such, there will be no 
further reports to the Cabinet or Overview Scrutiny Committee on the Service 
Review and Budget Initiatives moving forward.

4. Background Papers

4.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are held by the Director (Corporate 
Services).  Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first 
place, be directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 41



IMPLICATIONS           APPENDIX 1

Legal As part of the service review process, a detailed analysis of the statutory nature of 
the services delivered by the council was undertaken to ensure that the council 
continues to deliver those services that it has a statutory duty to.  
There is a need for the council to give due regard to the Duty to Consult where it is 
required as the council undertakes to fulfil its 'Best Value' Duty.  Where it is felt that 
consultation with either the Public or Officers of the council is required, decisions 
will be taken in principle subject to the findings from the consultation activities so 
that this feedback can be taken into account.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Section one of the report sets out the financial challenge facing the council through 
the various Bridging the Gap activities, including the Service Review and Budget 
Initiative process.

Risk Assessment In implementing any of the options identified, there has been due consideration to 
any specific risks associated with the initiative at the appropriate time.  This will 
continue for those options that are still to be implemented.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No – this report provides an update on individual projects and initiatives.  A 
DPIA will be considered for each initiative as required.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A - a detailed equality impact assessment has been undertaken for each of 
the initiatives implemented as required and will continue to be undertaken as 
necessary.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Page 42

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

IMPLICATIONS           APPENDIX 1

Corporate Plan The balancing the budget initiatives cut across all council services and therefore 
has a direct impact on the delivery of the council’s corporate objectives.  

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications resulting from the decisions to be 
made within this report.

Digital and website 
implications

There is the potential for digital and website implications depending on the 
initiatives that Members approve.  Relevant officers have been involved in the 
discussions regarding these points and will continue to be moving forward.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from the decisions to be made within this report.

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Two

SRT and Balancing the Budget Initiatives 

The table below provides an overview of the total SRT options and Budget Initiatives
delivered across the seven Cabinet portfolios.

Cabinet Portfolio

Savings originally  
required from SRT 

options and Budget 
Initiatives

Total savings/income 
reflected in the MTFP

Leader's Portfolio £1,173,920 £1,161,690
Commercial Services £125,000 £0
Community & Leisure £575,100 £537,990
Housing Service £180,000 £180,000
Operational Services £245,450 £245,650
Performance & Administration £97,000 £97,000
Strategic Environment £339,400 £194,770

TOTAL £2,735,870 £2,417,100

Page 45



The Leader's Portfolio

SRT and Balancing the Budget Initiatives 
- The Leader's Portfolio

Savings identified from outstanding SRT options
and Budget Initiatives

£1,173,920 Total savings/income reflected in the MTFP £1,161,690

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

Update Actual savings reflected 
within MTFP

SRT
Parking & 
Amenities

Daniel Killian
Assistant Director 
(Housing Assets)

Review of Controlled Parking Zones - It is recognised that some aspects of the existing 
Controlled Parking Zones (CPZ's) are in need of being updated. The review of CPZ's is a 
significant piece of work.  It is anticipated that converting the existing £15 fee for a five-
year permit to an annual permit would generate an additional £9,000pa (£9k in year 1, 
£18k in year 2 and so on until reaching £45k pa at year 5).

£9,000 The review and implementation of the Town Centre Controlled Parking Zone has now 
been completed which went live in May 2019.  As part of the consultation process, 
Kent County Council, as the highway authority, also had to be consulted and they 
advised that as the existing Controlled Parking Zone would be revoked, so too should 
all the existing permits.  Therefore, it was not possible to proceed as originally planned 
and allow the existing five year permits to continue to be used (until their ultimate 
expiry) within the new revised parking areas and so all existing five year permits were 
replaced with a new annual permit.  As a result the income estimated over a five year 
period has effectively been brought forward.. Financially, this option is generating an 
additional £32,200 within the MTFP in 2019/20, which is anticipated to be repeated 
each year going forwards. Of this, £17,200 is being reported here under SRT/Balancing 
The Budget Initiatives, with a further £15,000 accounted for under the annual review 
of fees & charges exercise.  Whilst the review of the rural Controlled Parking Zones is 
part way through, the permits issued in these areas have already been changed to 
waiver permits that are renewed annually and therefore this will have no impact on 
income as all schemes have already confirmed they wish to remain within a parking 
area.

£17,200

SRT
Parking & 
Amenities

Daniel Killian
Assistant Director 
(Housing Assets)

Car Parking Fees - increase parking fees whilst still remaining cheaper than most other 
councils in Kent.

£157,000 The new fee structure across all pay and display car parks was introduced on 03 April 
2017, and budgets have been adjusted for all years within the MTFP.

£157,000

SRT
Parking & 
Amenities

Daniel Killian
Assistant Director 
(Housing Assets)

Resident Parking - Residents' Parking fees in Gravesham are significantly lower than 
elsewhere in Kent.  Even with the fee increases, annual fees in Gravesham will remain 
cheaper than Residents' Parking fees currently charged by most other councils in Kent.

£18,000 The increase to residential parking permits and visitors permits was introduced on 03 
April 2017, and budgets have been adjusted for all years within the MTFP.

£18,000

P
age 46



The Leader's Portfolio

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

Update Actual savings reflected 
within MTFP

Budget 
Initiative
November 2018

Stuart Bobby
Director (Corporate 
Services)

Review of the loan pool arrangements 
here is the potential to move to two loan pools from 2020, when the stock loan is 
repaid, which would result in lower interest charges to the council's General Fund.  The 
saving figure identified relates to saving in 2020 and there is the potential for this to 
increase year-on-year.  This is considered to be an equitable option to put forward as 
the authority considers a significant undertaking of borrowing for the proposed 
development of the Heritage Quarter Scheme, and without disbanding the loans pool 
(i.e. creating two separate loans pools - one for the General Fund and one for the HRA), 
a significant proportion of the debt costs associated with that borrowing would fall upon 
the Housing Revenue Account.  In early 2020, before this borrowing is scheduled to be 
taken out, the authority will be in the position (for the first time in many years) where all 
debt costs relate solely to the Housing Revenue Account, being in relation to the HRA 
Self-financing loans, and therefore this is seen as the most equitable opportunity to 
disband the single loans pool for the benefit of both the General Fund and the HRA. To 
be implemented from 2020.

£480,000 Implemented in 2018/19, with reduced General Fund interest charges of £480,000 
from 2020/21 onwards.

£480,000

Budget 
Initiative
November 2018

Stuart Bobby
Director (Corporate 
Services)

Review of the Corporate Inflation provision
The provision allowed for in the budget should be reviewed to ensure that it is sufficient 
but is not too high. This will need to ensure that ongoing inflation pressures are taken 
into account and potentially, a small contingency budget is maintained to ensure that 
there is a sum available should any new pressures that are not already known emerge.  
To be implemented from 2020-21.

£180,000 The MTFP has been updated to reflect a saving of £182,810 from 2020/21 onwards. £182,810

Budget 
Initiative
November 2018

Melanie Norris
Director (Communities)

Review of long-standing staff vacancies
Vacancies are reviewed on a regular basis but there has been a need to undertake a 
fundamental review of the long-standing vacancies that are on the establishment.    
Where it is felt a post is no longer required, it should be removed from the 
establishment and therefore the overall council budget.   

£100,000 Long-standing vacant posts have been removed from the MTFP from 2019/20, 
generating an ongoing saving of £100,000.

£100,000

Budget 
Initiative
November 2018

Simon Walsh
Service Manager 
(Communities)

Review of the expenditure associated with Mayoral allowances. £5,000 Held in cash terms at the same levels for future years.  There will however, be no 
impact on the MTFP

£0

P
age 47



The Leader's Portfolio

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

Update Actual savings reflected 
within MTFP

Budget 
Initiative
November 2018

Daniel Killian
Assistant Director 
(Housing Assets)

Increase parking charges within the borough
Gravesham has some of the lowest parking charges in Kent, despite having some of the 
best transport links in to London.  The most recent increase to parking fees took place in 
November 2015. Since this time other parking providers, local authorities and private 
companies, have increased their parking fees as have all rail and bus providers, however 
Gravesham’s parking charges have remained static. It is important that parking fees are 
set accurately to ensure the most effective use of space whilst taking in to account what 
others charge and location to amenities. The current fees have been reviewed and an 
increase is proposed that applies an incremental increase to each of the existing tariffs  
so that the lowest increase is for those that are likely to be using local facilities, and the 
higher increase for those that are likely to be using facilities outside of the town centre 
including commuting.   It should be borne in mind that this proposed increase is broadly 
in line with the level of inflation experienced since November 2015 - whereby since that 
time (and forecasting to the likely implementation date for any new increase), the 
compound effect of inflation has been around 11% over the period during which there 
has been no increase to any charges within the Council-owned vehicle parks. The figure 
identified assumes that usage will continue as per the current trend.

£175,000 Revised car parking tariffs were agreed by Cabinet in November 2018, and introduced 
in February 2019. Additional income of £169,100 has been reflected within the MTFP 
from 2019/20 onwards. This is the projected combined effect of reviewing both on-
street and off-street (car park) charges within the borough. 

£169,100

Options to be progressed through Operational Business Plans

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

SRT
Customer & 
Theatre Services

Anita Tysoe
Service Manager 
(Customer & Theatre 
Services)

Move more internal services into the contact centre.  It is anticipated that this will 
enable the council to reduce the establishment by 2 FTE as digital contacts increase and 
call volumes decline, and will also allow for greater efficiencies in the delivery of the 
service in the interim

£49,920 So far, 1.5 FTE Posts have already been identified for removal from the establishment 
with budgets totalling £37,580 removed from the MTFP from 2020/21 onwards. Work 
is ongoing to identify further services suitable for transferring into the Contact Centre, 
and when confirmed, budgets will be adjusted accordingly.

£37,580

SRT
Customer & 
Theatre Services

Anita Tysoe
Service Manager 
(Customer & Theatre 
Services)

Introduction of an intelligent IVR telephone system to support the work of the 
department.

No saving identified at 
this stage

Update

Following a review of the procurement options, it was felt that joint procurement with Medway Council was not 
the best way forward. Gravesham will progress to procurement with their own specification during January / 
February 2020 with an aim for project implementation starting in April 2020.

P
age 48



The Leader's Portfolio

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

Update Actual savings reflected 
within MTFP

Budget 
Initiative
November 2018

Stuart Bobby
Director (Corporate 
Services)

Actively seek Government Funding Initiatives
There are a number of alternative funding sources for local authorities to enable them 
to continue to deliver specific initiatives.  It would be beneficial to explore these 
opportunities in more detail.

This initiative will deliver 
financial sustainability to 

the council although 
through specific projects 
and as such, it is difficult 

to relate a specific 
income value to this.

There may be resource 
implication in terms of 
ensuring these funding 

streams are actively 
sourced.

In the six months since April 2019, approx. £17.5 million of prospective funding opportunities have been 
identified although at this stage, none have been deemed suitable to pursue.  The council is taking a proactive 
stance with the use of GRANTfinder by extending the contract further, training officers in bid writing and looking 
to employ an officer on a part-time basis to specifically take forward potential grants on behalf of the council.

P
age 49



Commercial Services Portfolio

SRT and Balancing the Budget Initiatives 
- Commercial Services Portfolio

Savings identified from outstanding SRT options
and Budget Initiatives

£125,000

Options to be progressed through Operational Business Plans

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

Budget 
Initiative
November 2018

Stuart Bobby
Director (Corporate 
Services)

Progress the introduction of a Local Authority Trading Company (LATC) to enable 
commercialisation of council activities.
This is actively being explored and is also the focus of the new topic review identified by 
the Overview Scrutiny Committee.
As per previous Member briefings, it is currently understood that the authority would 
require a LATCO to be formed in order to own and manage any private rental sector 
residential properties delivered as part of the Heritage Quarter scheme.  Other potential 
uses of the company structure could be in relation to the delivery of repairs and 
maintenance services to domestic properties (using any spare capacity from the 
Council's social housing repairs service) or providing an MOT and servicing facility for 
private motor vehicles or fleets using the existing workshop facilities at the Depot.

It is difficult to suggest 
an income figure 

associated with this but 
it is recognised that this 

will increase income 
streams to the council.

Budget 
Initiative
November 2018

Stuart Bobby
Director (Corporate 
Services)

Provision of office accommodation at Brookvale Depot.
A site has been identified at Brookvale Depot which would allow for the construction of 
a purpose built office block which could then be let to other agencies/companies for a 
rental income.
The council could/would need to borrow the funds to initiate this development through 
PWLB, but taking account of borrowing costs and working on the basis of an 8% yield, 
the net income could be in the region of £60,000 per annum.

£60,000

SRT
Direct Services 
Operation (DSO)

Stuart Alford
Assistant Director 
(Environment

Commercialisation of the depot £30,000

SRT
Direct Services 
Operation (DSO)

Stuart Alford
Assistant Director 
(Environment

Explore alternative uses for the former Apollo building, which is currently being used for 
storage.

£35,000

Budget 
Initiative
November 2018

Stuart Bobby
Director (Corporate 
Services)

Review of council assets (including land sites).
The council has a number of assets and it would be beneficial to undertake a full review 
of all assets in order to identify if there are either alternative uses of the assets, sale of 
assets or sale/development of GBC-owned land where it is suitable to do so.  This ties in 
with the potential introduction of business incubator space within the borough as well.

It is difficult to put a 
specific sum on what 
this could achieve for 

the council and there is 
the potential that this 

may not be an ongoing 
revenue stream moving 

forward.

Update

With the introduction of the Commercial Cabinet Portfolio and a renewed momentum with the Eastern and 
Western Quarter aspects of the Heritage Quarter project, this area is being moved forward at pace.

A report was presented to Full Council in December 2019 which sought permission to form a Local Authority 
Trading Company, and set out the framework for the establishment of specific subsidiaries to deliver services.  
This was approved and it is intended to present the business cases for individual subsidiaries to Cabinet for 
decision.

The Brookvale office accommodation scheme has been temporarily delayed whilst wider works to the Depot are 
being implemented in order to facilitate launching the Vehicle Servicing Local Authority Trading Company 
initiative with effect from 1 April 2020.  

Following acquisition of land at Dering Way during 2018-19, a wider master planning exercise for the area is due 
to be undertaken within the next few months. This will inform the scale and type of development that is 
considered suitable for the land in the council's ownership.

As part of the work to set up a LATCO, it has been agreed that the vehicle workshop will be able to service private 
vehicles from 1 April 2020.  Under the LATCO umbrella work is being carried out alongside the Digital Team, 
Finance and Property Services to ensure the workshop is ready for the 1 April 2020.

Discussions are continuing with Property Services to establish the way forward with the development of the 
depot and Apollo space, looking at making the depot more accessible and reviewing the current office space and 
facilities.  It has been agreed that the roof on the main building will be replaced.

P
age 50



Community and Leisure Portfolio

SRT and Balancing the Budget Initiatives 
- Community & Leisure Portfolio

Savings identified from outstanding SRT options
and Budget Initiatives

£575,100 Total savings/income reflected in the MTFP £537,990

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

Update Actual savings reflected 
within MTFP

SRT
Customer & 
Theatre Services

Anita Tysoe
Service Manager 
(Customer & Theatre 
Services)

Look to restructure and reduce the current offer from The Woodville. £41,000 £41,000

SRT
Customer & 
Theatre Services

Anita Tysoe
Service Manager 
(Customer & Theatre 
Services)

Explore the opportunity to bring the box office function in-house. £20,000 £20,000

SRT
Customer & 
Theatre Services

Determine the strategic 
direction of The 
Woodville moving into 
the future.

Determine the strategic direction of The Woodville moving into the future. £0 The strategy was presented to Cabinet as part of the Service Review papers and set out 
the strategic direction of the Woodville. 

N/A
No saving associated 

with this option

SRT
Economic 
Development & 
Town Centre 
Management

Simon Hookway
Assistant Director 
(Communities)

Cease use of TownCentric - savings generated though termination of lease arrangement 
and from associated premises costs, plus from no longer requiring cleansing staff and 
casual staff to cover lone-working periods.

£66,310 Towncentric was closed on 31 December 2016. £48,150 of (largely) premises-related 
budgets have already been removed from the 2017/18 MTFP, reflecting the part-year 
saving of handing back the property on 9 June 2017. The ongoing savings are 
approximately £58k per annum and are already reflected within the MTFP.

£57,800

SRT
Economic 
Development & 
Town Centre 
Management

Simon Hookway
Assistant Director 
(Communities)

Restructure of staffing resource which will result in the deletion of 4.5 posts within the 
tourism, town centre management and arts & heritage section. The remaining staff will 
be restructured to form a new town centre team which will be based at the Civic Centre.

£92,010 Full year savings of £79,960 from 2018/19 onwards already realised within the MTFP.  
Final savings slightly lower than originally anticipated due to an expected 
redeployment into a Market Maintenance Operative post not happening with a new 
member of staff recruited instead, as well as a smaller reduction to the Arts & Heritage 
Officer post than originally estimated.

£79,960

SRT
Economic 
Development & 
Town Centre 
Management

Simon Hookway
Assistant Director 
(Communities)

Reduction in available budgets as follows - Tourism & Town Twinning activity (£3,025 
cessation of membership of external tourism bodies); Visit Kent and Tourism South East 
(£2,000 in town twinning budget through reduced frequency of activity); Economic 
development activity (£1,250 withdrawal of sponsorship of Dartford & Gravesham 
Business Awards, £4,500 cessation of annual 121 business support via Enterprise First 
and £2,000 reduction in economic development activity budget - underspend); Town 
centre management activity - (£6,150 reduction in town centre maintenance budget - 
underspend) and £18,080 reduction in town centre management budgets - events, flags, 
In Bloom and Christmas Lights).  Activities will continue but potential to scale-down 
without material effect.

£37,010 Sum of £39,370 already removed from all years of the MTFP. Final total slightly higher 
than originally anticipated due to incorporating further minor adjustments to supplies 
& services budgets.

£39,370

The new system has been implemented, and went live from 10 June 2019. Total 
savings have been identified from existing budgets following implementation, as the 
new system has become established within ongoing operations.  The full saving will be 
achieved from 2020/21 onwards.

P
age 51



Community and Leisure Portfolio

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

Update Actual savings reflected 
within MTFP

SRT
Economic 
Development & 
Town Centre 
Management

Simon Hookway
Assistant Director 
(Communities)

The tourism offer will be slimmed down and will be delivered via a desk service at the 
Market or other visitor points (such as cruise terminal, Cyclopark, large leisure events) 4 
days per week (Thursday, Friday, Saturday and Sunday). The Visit Gravesend website 
and use of social media will continue. There will be a reduction in the range of 
brochures/leaflets available with a focus on those related to local information. Bookings 
for boat trips, historic talks and walks etc. will be managed on-line 7/24 and at the 
information points, although payment will be by card only. National Express bookings 
would cease. Guided walks will continue. The talks programme will continue though will 
be hosted from alternative locations. Exhibitions/displays of local visitor interest can be 
presented within the Market and/or in the Blake Gallery. Retail activity will be reviewed 
and reduced to a number of popular core lines and sold from the Market. The council 
will continue to run a mobility scooter service from the Market, which has close 
proximity to car parking and the town centre together with accessibility to and from the 
main Market Hall.

No saving identified at 
this stage

Budgets for 2018/19 onwards have been amended in the MTFP. -£13,400

SRT
Economic 
Development & 
Town Centre 
Management

Simon Hookway
Assistant Director 
(Communities)

Following on from the capital works to renovate the site, new arrangements at the 
Market have led to an improved budgetary position of around £45k on a full-year basis

£45,560 The 2017/18 Budget was adjusted by £33k, and subsequent years' budgets by around 
£45k. This accounts for the anticipated "staggered" effect of the Market's growth since 
redevelopment.

£43,870

SRT
Public Health & 
Communities

Simon Hookway
Assistant Director 
(Communities)

Undertake a review of booking needs and ascertain the most effective way in which 
such bookings can be administered. Whilst the Committee Section is adequately 
equipped to provide administrative support to the Youth Council, discussions are 
underway to ascertain whether the Youth Team at the Gr@nd could also provide 
support to the Youth Council.

N/A
No saving associated 

with this option

Investigation has demonstrated that no real improvements or savings can be gained 
from digital booking systems, especially for outdoor recreation, given that frequency 
and nature of bookings.  However The Woodville box office system is being used this 
year in support of booking for the Summer Fun programme.  Service Level Agreement 
is currently being reviewed in respect of support for the Youth Council via The Grand.

N/A
No saving associated 

with this option

SRT
Public Health & 
Communities

Simon Hookway
Assistant Director 
(Communities)

From 2017/18, the annual budgets for Older and Younger Persons will be reduced to 
£25,000 each with a corresponding reduction to revenue contributions to capital outlay.

£50,000 Budgets for all years in the MTFP have already been adjusted by £50,000 to take 
account of this change.

£50,000

SRT
Public Health & 
Communities

Simon Hookway
Assistant Director 
(Communities)

Reduce individual annual Member Grants for 44 Elected Members of Gravesham 
Borough Council from £1,000 each to £500 each

£22,000 Budgets for all years in the MTFP have already been adjusted by £22,000 to take 
account of this change.

£22,000

SRT
Public Health & 
Communities

Simon Hookway
Assistant Director 
(Communities)

Review of existing community engagement budgets and deletion of the Leaders 
Community budget which paid for additional events such as the Christmas programme.

£56,600 Budgets for all years in the MTFP have already been adjusted by £56,600 to take 
account of this change.

£56,600

SRT
Public Health & 
Communities

Simon Hookway
Assistant Director 
(Communities)

Given that the provision of the annual fireworks display was originally at the request of 
and funded by Kent Fire and Rescue Service (KFRS) in order to reduce the risk of fires 
and accidents from home bonfires and displays, seek an annual contribution of £15,000 
from that Service to future years’ displays.  Contact to be made with KFRS and other 
potential sponsors to discuss and agree proposal.

£15,000 KFRS have been contacted and they confirm that they would not be able to offer 
funding sponsorship to any Firework displays across the County.  Officers have 
explored other options regarding this budget and it has been identified that, due to the 
decision by Kent County Council to remove funding for the Neighbourhood Forums, 
the council is also able to release this budget (as the council previously match-funded 
the forums).  As such, there is a total saving of £22,000 against the Neighbourhood 
Forum budget which enables the council to achieve the £15,000 saving and still 
provide the fireworks event in future years.

£15,000

P
age 52



Community and Leisure Portfolio

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

Update Actual savings reflected 
within MTFP

SRT
Public Health & 
Communities

Simon Hookway
Assistant Director 
(Communities)

In liaison with the Cabinet Portfolio Holder, officers be requested to discuss with the 
Gr@nd service delivery options that will assist the Council’s budget position.  The main 
savings in this area have been taken from a vacant Service Manager post which was 
being retained to ensure that we could meet our public health commitments. This work 
has been covered by the Director and Assistant Director for the last 2 years and it is felt 
our commitments are being met with regard to Public Health without the need to draw 
on this budget.

£50,610 The Director and Assistant Director (Communities) between them continue to cover 
the strategic public health work previously delivered by the (vacant) Service Manager 
post. This is a sustainable arrangement that will be continued, thus allowing the vacant 
post to be deleted. This action is now completed, realising an annual saving of around 
£52k.

£51,600

SRT
Regulatory 
Services

Simon Hookway
Assistant Director 
(Communities)

Proposals have been received from both Medway and Dartford Councils for a shared 
resource which will reduce the cost of the CCTV service.

£64,000 The sharing of a CCTV control desk has been agreed and put in place with Medway 
through the CCTV Partnership.  An annual saving of £59,190 incorporated into the 
MTFP from 2018/19 onwards.  This saving is what is currently achievable at this point 
in time, albeit the potential for further cost savings continue to be discussed within the 
partnership. 

£59,190

Budget 
Initiative
November 2018

Simon Hookway
Assistant Director 
(Communities)

Council events - review the overall budget for the events in the future.
Following a strategic review of the budgets associated with council events, taking into 
account current levels of sponsorship and the existing events programme, it is 
considered that the existing budgets can be reduced without any direct impact upon the 
current events programme.

£15,000 Budgets for all years in the MTFP have been adjusted by £15,0000 to take account of 
this change.

£15,000

P
age 53



Housing Delivery Portfolio

SRT and Balancing the Budget Initiatives 
- Housing Delivery Portfolio

Savings identified from outstanding SRT options
and Budget Initiatives

£180,000 Total savings/income reflected in the MTFP £180,000

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

Update Actual savings reflected 
within MTFP

Budget 
Initiative
November 2018

Wale Adetoro
Assistant Director 
(Housing)

Review the use of GBC-owned Garages
Following a fundamental review of the use of GBC-owned garages, and clarification of 
the legal position, it has been determined that where such garages or parking spaces are 
being rented out to non-GBC tenants, the income and expenditure associated with those 
assets should be appropriated to the General Fund rather than the Housing Revenue 
Account as has traditionally been the case in the past.  Furthermore, as part of the 
review, it has been identified that the rent that is being charged for such assets can be 
reviewed to reflect current market conditions for such spaces, and their proximity to 
vehicle parks.

£180,000 Income from garages rented to non GBC tenants identified and appropriated to the 
General Fund. An additional net benefit within the MTFP of £160,000 has been 
reflected in 2019/20, with £180,000 from 2020/21 thereafter.

£180,000

P
age 54



Operational Services Portfolio

SRT and Balancing the Budget Initiatives 
- Operational Services Portfolio

Savings identified from outstanding SRT options
and Budget Initiatives

£245,450 Total savings/income reflected in the MTFP £245,650

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

Update Actual savings reflected 
within MTFP

SRT
Direct Services 
Operation (DSO)

Stuart Alford
Assistant Director 
(Environment

Implement a combination of software to help manage services across the depot 
including waste management, grounds maintenance and Cemeteries.

No saving identified at 
this stage

The implementation of the Bartec Collective system is currently underway and changes 
are being made  to the waste management team's administrative  processes for better 
efficiency.

Work is being carried out to implement the trade waste module by July 2020, this will 
see changes to the payment process and the way the service is administered to 
provide a more efficient service.

No saving identified at 
this stage

SRT
Direct Services 
Operation (DSO)

Stuart Alford
Assistant Director 
(Environment

Increasing the green waste service through service enhancements and, linked to this, 
introduction of compostable sacks for green waste

No saving identified at 
this stage

The enhanced garden waste service was introduced in March 2017.  The number of 
subscriptions has continued to grow every year since 2017 with both the new options 
(140ltr bin and paper sacks) being very popular.  The cumulative  MTFP benefit is 
£90,000 per annum 

£90,000

SRT
Direct Services 
Operation (DSO)

Stuart Alford
Assistant Director 
(Environment

Introduce a recycling service for trade waste customers £10,000 The number of customers moving onto the paper & cardboard collection is continually 
increasing.  A income budget of £13,350 has been set for 2020.21 which exceeds the 
original saving identified.  

£5,000

SRT
Direct Services 
Operation (DSO)

Stuart Alford
Assistant Director 
(Environment

Introducing a charging policy for developers to enable the council to recoup the cost of 
wheeled bins in new developments

£6,400 A planning guidance for waste collection document has been produced and adopted.  
The document sets out what the Council expects a developer to include within a 
planning application for waste collection and storage.  It also sets out the costs 
expected from the developer for the provision of bins for the new builds.

An income budget of £7,000 was set in the budget for 2019.20

£5,000

SRT
Direct Services 
Operation (DSO)

Stuart Alford
Assistant Director 
(Environment

Handing back of Highways verge maintenance to KCC £20,150 Following a review of the horticultural service, one vacant post has been deleted from 
the establishment for 2018/19. The MTFP has been updated from 2018/19 onwards to 
reflect this change.

£20,150

SRT
Direct Services 
Operation (DSO)

Stuart Alford
Assistant Director 
(Environment

Delivering Team Green in-house and realising a saving/increased output. £40,000 It was agreed that 2017/18 would be the final year of the Team Green project, so the 
£40,000 saving has been realised for 2018/19 and thereafter within the MTFP.

£40,000

SRT
Direct Services 
Operation (DSO)

Stuart Alford
Assistant Director 
(Environment

Implementing an annual budget for maintenance of closed church yards. -£5,000 An annual budget for the maintenance of closed churchyards has been included across 
all years in the MTFP.

-£5,000

P
age 55



Operational Services Portfolio

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

Update Actual savings reflected 
within MTFP

SRT
Direct Services 
Operation (DSO)

Stuart Alford
Assistant Director 
(Environment

Introduce a charging policy for the standard searches that are currently undertaken free 
of charge (Cemeteries)

£2,000 The charges adopted by other Kent authorities has been researched and it is 
recommended that the Council charges £20 per family search.  Over the last 5 years 
there has been an average of 250 search requests per year which at £20 per search will 
provide an income of £5,000.  The Cemetery Manager is discussing with the Digital 
Team the option of an online form which can be submitted to the Cemetery Team 
along with the £20 payment when a request is made.  The £5,000 income will be 
reflected in the 2020-21 budget (£2k as SRT and £3k as fees & charges).

£2,000

SRT
Parking & 
Amenities

Daniel Killian
Assistant Director 
(Housing Assets)

Public Toilets - Consideration of alternative ways of providing the service at a reduced 
cost taking account of advantages / disadvantages of proposed changes. Development 
of a community toilet scheme with local businesses to replace the proposed closures 
where appropriate.

£76,000 The Community Toilet Scheme went live in July 2017 which allowed for the closures of 
Perry Street, Clive Road and Parrock Street. The toilets located in Meopham and 
Cobham, whilst still open,  will be managed by the parish in the future. Legal are 
currently dealing with each parishes' solicitor to end the current lease.  A full year 
saving of £54,770 from 2018/19 onwards has been reflected within the MTFP. If the 
sites already closed/closing are either sold or demolished, further savings of around 
£7k could be realised i.e. NNDR costs, but no changes will be made to the MTFP until 
confirmation is received.

£54,770

SRT
Regulatory 
Services

Elizabeth Thornton
Service Manager 
(Property & Regulatory 
Services)

For all locally set licensing fees, review fee structures such that full cost recovery is 
achieved.

£14,900 All locally set licensing fees and charges within Regulatory Services were subject to 
comprehensive review as part of the fee setting process for 2017/18. The revised fees, 
set to full cost recovery, are updated annually in line with RPI. 

£17,000

Budget 
Initiative
November 2018

Elizabeth Thornton
Service Manager 
(Property & Regulatory 
Services)

Currently there is a 0.5FTE post in this service area which is vacant.  The vacant element 
of the post was 'held over' whilst the shared service for Environmental Health was being 
explored but given that this is not being pursued, it is felt that this post should be 
deleted from the establishment as it is no longer required.

£16,000 The 0.5 FTE post has been removed from the 2019/20 MTFP onwards. £16,730

Options to be progressed through Operational Business Plans

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

SRT
Direct Services 
Operation (DSO)

Stuart Alford
Assistant Director 
(Environment

Introduce a premium house/garden clearance service. No saving identified at 
this stage

SRT
Direct Services 
Operation (DSO)

Stuart Alford
Assistant Director 
(Environment

Introduce a wheeled bin cleaning service across the borough No saving identified at 
this stage

SRT
Direct Services 
Operation (DSO)

Stuart Alford
Assistant Director 
(Environment

Cease the current external clinical waste collection contract and deliver the service in-
house

£25,000

Update

This is no longer seen as a viable option.

This is no longer seen as a viable option.

Now that the new waste software has been introduced work can commence on preparing a business case for this 
service.

P
age 56



Operational Services Portfolio

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

Update Actual savings reflected 
within MTFP

SRT
Direct Services 
Operation (DSO)

Stuart Alford
Assistant Director 
(Environment

Explore the improved use of Geographical Information Systems (GIS) in order to make 
better use of the resources available.

£30,000

Budget 
Initiative
November 2018

Stuart Alford
Assistant Director 
(Environment

Explore the possibility of using reusable recycling bags for those currently on the clear 
sack system. 
There are approximately 5,600 households receiving clear sacks as their properties are 
not suitable for recycling wheelie bins.  The current cost of providing clear bags is 
£15,000 per year, however this would not be the full saving as with wheelie bins there 
will need to be a replacement fund set up to replace lost or broken receptacles.
There are a couple of options available which need to be investigated and costed fully.

£10,000 The waste team have reviewed the properties & roads on clear sack collections to ensure the records are correct 
on the Bartec system.  The review has seen the number of properties on wheelie bin collections increase so 
reducing the level of clear sacks required. 
 
The costs of replacing clear sacks with boxes or re-usable sacks is currently being explored, however there are 
still concerns over the use of boxes or re-usable bags from a Health & Safety view. The use of recycling boxes 
increases the risk of long term musculoskeletal disorders to collection crews and there is also the risk of having 
to reach over a live bin lift when empting a box or reusable sacks.  All these risks need to be considered in 
determining the best option for the future.
 
In addition using an open top container such as a box or re-useable bag can lead to rubbish being blown out of 
the container causing an increased litter problem in areas where boxes or re-usable bags may be provided.  This 
could have a financial impact on the street cleansing service as more resources may have to be allocated to these 
areas.

The Waste Projects & Compliance Officer is working with the Operational Health & Safety Advisor to carry out 
further research to identify a suitable solution.

The waste team are currently using the GIS system to map the litter & dog bins around the borough.  This data 
will then be used to reroute the street cleansing team bin collections to make the service more efficient.

P
age 57



Performance Administration Portfolio

SRT and Balancing the Budget Initiatives 
- Performance & Administration Portfolio

Savings identified from outstanding SRT options
and Budget Initiatives

£97,000 Total savings/income reflected in the MTFP £97,000

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

Update Actual savings reflected 
within MTFP

SRT
Revenues & 
Benefits

Stuart Bobby, Director 
(Corporate Services)

The introduction of a comprehensive customer access platform (a MyAccount solution) 
to deliver a paperless solution to many functions delivered by the Revenues and 
Benefits team, and therefore generate the maximum efficiency savings in relation to 
printing, postage and processing of paper documents, together with facilitating the 
delivery of a fully shared service.

£60,000 Having initially been able to deliver £17,000 savings against this action, the 
introduction of the customer access MyAccount solution (which enables customers to 
self-help and access services themselves, as well as inputting information directly into 
online forms removing duplication of effort), coupled with reducing volumes of contact 
as a result of the roll-out of Universal Credit (which is administered by the Department 
for Work and Pensions through Job Centre Plus), the opportunity has been taken to 
reduce the establishment with Revenues and Benefits to align staffing levels with 
demand levels.  There are no redundancies associated with the delivery of these 
savings as the posts being offered up are either vacant or result from a reduction in the 
overtime allowance previously set aside to manage peak workloads.

£60,000

SRT
Revenues & 
Benefits

Stuart Bobby, Director 
(Corporate Services)

A fundamental review of the payment methods used by the council will be undertaken 
(to tie-in with the termination of the Co-operative Bank contract for the use of PayPoint 
which ends on 31 March 2018).

£37,000 Work to redesign Bank Reconciliation arrangements following implementation of the 
new Cash Management System for the Council have resulted in a reduced resourcing 
requirement for this task.  This enabled an ongoing staff saving of 0.5FTE to be realised 
from 2018/19. Reduced transactional charges have been secured for the BillPayment 
service from 1 March 2018 and for Merchant Acquiring Services in the current financial 
year, enabling the balance of the savings target to be reflected in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan from 2020/21.

£37,000

Options to be progressed through Operational Business Plans

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

SRT
Revenues & 
Benefits

Stuart Bobby, Director 
(Corporate Services)

A firm commitment to the delivery of a fully shared service for the Revenues and 
Benefits service, in line with Cabinet’s original authority to explore this option provided 
in 2015.  

Savings related to this 
element of the service 
review will not be 
counted as part of the 
service review process as 
they have already been 
included in the Shared 
Services  savings target 
within the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy

Update

From the 1 October 2019, the council has entered into a new shared management arrangement with Medway 
Council, whereby the Head of Revenues & Benefits and the Revenues Manager at Medway Council provide 
management services to Gravesham Borough Council for a fee.  Half of their time is spent at Medway and half at 
Gravesham.  This is by no means seen as a precursor to a full shared service, but may present opportunities for 
more joined up working in the future.

P
age 58



Performance Administration Portfolio

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

Update Actual savings reflected 
within MTFP

Budget 
Initiative
November 2018

Stuart Bobby
Director (Corporate 
Services)

Undertake a review of the contracts currently held on the Kent Portal
A thorough review of the contracts held by the council needs to be undertaken in order 
to identify if there are contracts in place that are either no longer required or if 
rationalisation could take place.
This will also look at the potential for better use of the 'Social Value in contracts and 
better use of this provision.

Work has commenced in 
this area but it is not yet 
known what the savings 
associated with this task 
could be.

The council does not have a dedicated procurement resource, with guidance and advice for procurement activity 
provided through the Category Management Team at Medway Council.  To support the procurement activity of 
the council an officer working group focusing on Procurement has been established from November 2019, 
constituted of representatives from across all directorates and chaired by the Assistant Director (Corporate 
Services).  The Terms of Reference of this group include a focus on analysing the contracted spend of the council 
and ensuring that social value contributions are secured through procurement activity valued over £50,000 and 
are directed to deliver benefit to the Borough.

P
age 59



Strategic Environment Portfolio

SRT and Balancing the Budget Initiatives 
- Strategic Environment Portfolio

Savings identified from outstanding SRT options
and Budget Initiatives

£339,400 Total savings/income reflected in the MTFP £194,770

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

Update Actual savings reflected 
within MTFP

SRT
(Economic 
Development & 
Town Centre 
Management

Simon Hookway
Assistant Director 
(Communities)

Cease the use of gatekeepers to secure pedestrianisation of key town centre routes and 
replaced with either rising bollards or cameras to enforce the no-entry hours

£37,400 Enforcement of a Bus Gate with Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) cameras 
as opposed to a physical 'gate'/barrier is the preferred option for replacement of the 
King Street gate.  The outcome of discussions with KCC Highways has been that KCC 
have requested that a business case be submitted.  This has been done, but we are 
told that a response has to await changes in decision making responsibilities at KCC. 

Saving has been implemented in MTFP as the Gatekeeper service posts have been 
removed from the establishment, albeit the gate is now being operated by casual staff.

£41,630

SRT
(Economic 
Development & 
Town Centre 
Management

Simon Hookway
Assistant Director 
(Communities)

Additional income from businesses seeking a commercial/promotional presence within 
the town centre.

£15,000  Income budget of £15,000 per annum already established across all MTFP years. £15,000

SRT
Planning & 
Regeneration

Wendy Lane
Assistant Director 
(Planning)

Introduction of a more corporate approach to GIS/LLPG - deletion of post from 
establishment.

£31,500 This post has been deleted within the MTFP, thus ensuring an on-going saving. £31,500

SRT
Planning & 
Regeneration

Wendy Lane
Assistant Director 
(Planning)

Reduce the annual contributions to the Planning Policy reserve.  The Planning Policy 
reserve was established in 2011-12 with an annual contribution of £100,000 and officers 
are asked to detail if the full level of contribution is required.

£50,000 From 2018/19 an annual contribution into the Planning Policy Reserve of £50,000 will 
be made, reduced from the previous amount of £100,000 per year, and therefore 
delivering an ongoing MTFP benefit of £50,000 per year.  The level of the reserve will 
be kept under review to ensure a sufficient level is maintained to deliver the approved 
programme of work.

£50,000

SRT
Planning & 
Regeneration

Wendy Lane
Assistant Director 
(Planning)

Review of the Regeneration & Major Projects Team - The Service Manager (Major 
Regeneration Projects) has a fixed-term contract until October 2019 and this post will 
not be filled at that point, thereby realising an in-year saving in 2019-20 of circa £19,400 
and on-going savings from 2020/21.  A further review of the team and the key projects 
underway will also be undertaken as this stage.

£46,500 The contract for this post is fixed-term and will automatically cease in March 2020, 
delivering a full saving. The MTFP has been adjusted to reflect a full-year saving in 
2020/21 of £49,540.

£49,540

SRT
Planning & 
Regeneration

Wendy Lane
Assistant Director 
(Planning)

Review and increase in the charges for pre-applications advice £8,000 Reported to and agreed at Cabinet on 5 February 2019.  Increased income will be 
subject to take-up of the service but additional services have been added to the 
'charged-for' list. The MTFP has been updated from 2019/20 onwards to reflect 
additional income of £7,100 from pre-applications advice.

£7,100

P
age 60



Strategic Environment Portfolio

Options to be progressed through Operational Business Plans

SRT/
Budget

Responsible Officer Option Identified Potential saving 
identified

SRT
Planning & 
Regeneration

Wendy Lane
Assistant Director 
(Planning)

Business Process Re-engineering (Development Management) No saving identified at 
this stage

SRT
Planning & 
Regeneration

Wendy Lane
Assistant Director 
(Planning)

Explore opportunities for a shared service in the Development Management technical 
team

£10,000

SRT
Regulatory 
Services

Elizabeth Thornton
Service Manager 
(Regulatory Services)

Make contact with other councils in Kent who share a boundary with Gravesham to 
discuss opportunities for a shared service. Shared boundary is required for logistical 
purposes due to the local inspection/site visit based nature of this service.  Due to 
current shared services already in place or being pursued with Medway Council in other 
service areas, Medway will be approached in the first instance.

£88,000

Budget Initiative
November 2018

Kevin Burbidge
Director (Housing & 
Regeneration)

Review the way in which regeneration projects are managed in the future.
Given the changing nature of the way in which key regeneration projects are now dealt 
with by the authority and the recognition that there is very little (if any) government 
funding now available for such projects, there is a need to review the way in which the 
council approaches the management of these projects in the future.

£53,000

Budget Initiative
November 2018

Kevin Burbidge
Director (Housing & 
Regeneration)

Look to accelerate development opportunities within Gravesham.
There are a number of sites where development has been agreed but activity has 
stalled.  This has impacted on other funding streams (such as business rates, new homes 
bonus).  The council needs to take a more pro-active approach to progressing 
development in the borough.

It is difficult to put a 
specific figure against 

this initiative but it is felt 
that this is something 
that should be driven 

forward.

The exchange of contracts on the Lord Street site has completed and focus will now move to bringing forward 
development on the site.  Other sites that have stalled are being monitored proactively by the working group 
with some now moving forward, e.g. Clifton Slipways and M Block.

Update

Following the presentation from Martin Hutchings re: PAS Productivity and Resource Review in late 2018, revised 
templates were provided. These were populated with updated information to 30/5/2019 and returned. Also at 
this time PAS carried out a survey of planning departments on behalf of MHCLG and the LGA. 120 councils 
responded giving PAS a much richer picture of how departments of various shapes and sizes view their skills, 
capacity and longer-term outlook. PAS’ revised analysis has been received. In addition to this work, the 
Corporate Change team is working with team members and IT to help progress some of the areas already 
identified for improvement with a particular focus on IT system set up and content, as well as helping to identify 
further opportunities.

The council is continuing to explore opportunities in this area.  In the meantime, recruitment is taking place to 
vacant posts within the team to provide necessary capacity in the short term, particularly given the nationally 
significant infrastructure projects (NSIP) applications affecting the borough.

As reported to Management Team in June 2019, no current shared service opportunities have been identified 
but it is likely that openings will arise over the next 1-2 years and regular dialogue will be maintained.  In the 
meantime work is continuing to digitalise advice and reporting forms in order to improve overall service delivery.

Options to realise this saving are currently being considered and a report will be presented for Management 
Team consideration early in 2020.

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Development on Land at Valley Drive, Gravesend  (Please note that Appendix 2 is restricted and will only be available in the private document pack)
	Part B - Valley Drive Redevelopment - Appendix 2

	7 Change Strategy 2019-2023
	Appendix Two - Draft Change Strategy Document

	8 Local Government Mutual
	9 Balancing the Budget – Update on Service Review Options and Additional Budget Initiatives Identified
	Appendix Two - SRT and Budget Initiative Update January 2020
	Summary
	Leader's Portoflio
	Commercial
	Community & Leisure
	Housing
	Operational
	Performance & Admin
	Strategic Environment



